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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Richmond Division 

 
STEPHEN M. BEVERLY,   | 
      | 
  Plaintiff,   | 
      | 
v.      |  Civil Action No. 3:07cv469 
      | 
WAL-MART STORES, INC.,  | 
      | 
  Defendant.   | 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
STEPHEN M. BEVERLY, et al.,  | 
      | 
  Plaintiffs,   | 
      | 
v.      |  Civil Action No. 3:07cv541 
      | 
CHOICEPOINT INC.,    | 
      | 
  Defendant.   | 
  
 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR FINAL APPROVAL 

OF CLASS SETTLEMENT AND AWARD OF ATTORNEYS FEES 
 

COME NOW the Plaintiffs, by counsel, and in support of their Motion for Final 

Approval and for Attorneys Fees and Costs, they state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 
 

 Stephen M. Beverly commenced litigation (the “Wal-Mart Litigation”) against Defendant 

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“Wal-Mart”) in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 

Virginia, Richmond Division, Civil Action No. 3:07cv469; and Beverly and Bruce J. Smith 

(“Named Plaintiffs”) commenced litigation (the “ChoicePoint Litigation”) against Defendants 

ChoicePoint Inc. and ChoicePoint Workplace Solutions Inc. (collectively, “ChoicePoint”) in the 
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United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Richmond Division, Civil 

Action No. 3:07cv541.   The Parties to both of these actions reached a settlement of class claims 

negotiated through the direct intervention and supervision of Magistrate Judges Dennis W. 

Dohnal and M. Hannah Lauck.  The Settlement was the product of arm’s-length negotiations 

between experienced counsel that took place after over a year of litigation and months of 

intensive discovery and multiple negotiation sessions, in person and by telephone with the 

Magistrate Judges as well as in multiple additional sessions solely between the parties.   As 

explained below, the Settlement is an excellent result for the Classes in that it provides relief of 

genuine value without the risks of extended litigation. 

The Parties now ask the Court to order final approval of the settlement and Plaintiffs ask 

the Court to award attorneys’ fees and costs to class counsel.  Without question, the Settlement 

— which automatically extends monetary relief to all Class Members without regard to actual 

damages — is an excellent result for the certified Classes.  Indeed, response from the Classes has 

been overwhelmingly positive.  With 116,344 Class Notices confirmed as directly delivered to 

Class Members, only 4 Class Members have objected, none with regard to the actual claim at 

issue in the case, and only 19 have requested exclusion from the Settlement.  No attorney 

objectors have surfaced.  Based on an outstanding benefit for the Classes and the Class 

Members’ ringing endorsement, the Plaintiffs submit this Memorandum in Support of their 

Motion to the Court, pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, for a final order (1) 

granting final approval to and directing implementation of the Settlement; (2) approving  

incentive awards to the Class Representatives; and (3) awarding Class Counsel attorneys’ fees, 

costs, and other expenses. 
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CASE BACKGROUND 

 
A. Plaintiffs’ Claims 
 
 Beverly filed a Class Action Complaint in the Wal-Mart Litigation that alleged that Wal-

Mart violated the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq., 

specifically 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b).   He alleged that Wal-Mart used his and other putative class 

members’ consumer reports in processing employment applications without providing timely 

notice under the FCRA of its intent to do so.  The Plaintiff alleged that the FCRA requirement 

that notice be delivered “before” taking an adverse action required at least five business days 

between mailing of the notice and the taking of adverse action to be reasonable and thus lawful.   

Wal-Mart denies these allegations. 

Shortly after commencing the Wal-Mart Litigation, the Named Plaintiffs also filed a 

second Class Action Complaint, this one against ChoicePoint alleging that it violated the FCRA 

by the timing with which it provided a notice to consumers that it was furnishing a consumer 

report (background check) “at the time” it did so.  The Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint alleges 

that ChoicePoint violated 15 U.S.C. §1681k.   ChoicePoint denies these allegations. 

B. The State of Litigation and the Settlement Negotiations 

  The Parties began both formal and informal discovery early in this matter on nearly all 

issues.  Significant formal discovery was nearly completed in the Wal-Mart litigation, with 

corporate and expert depositions complementing significant written discovery by Interrogatories 

and Document Production.  Discovery was sufficiently advanced that when the later-filed 

ChoicePoint litigation became ripe, Plaintiffs’ counsel had already completed enough discovery 

of the interrelated systems and events in the two cases and between the two defendants in order 

to fully assess the strengths and weaknesses of both cases.   
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 The Parties also engaged in productive settlement, all of which required extensive 

preparation and all of which were usefully attended by nearly every attorney of record in the 

case.  However, formal settlement conferences were not initially commenced.  Instead, as the 

parties had significant differences about the facts, law and value of the cases, such discussions 

would have been premature.  Accordingly, the first formal settlement conference was held only 

after the Court had denied Wal-Mart’s Rule 12(b)(6) motion and after the Parties had conducted 

sufficient written and deposition discovery.   Over the duration of the Wal-Mart case, there were 

at least a dozen communications and multiple in person conferences with Magistrate Judge 

Lauck.  In addition to litigation counsel, management representatives of Wal-Mart also attended 

at least one of these sessions in person.  Similarly, the settlement with ChoicePoint was 

accomplished through the direct involvement of Magistrate Judge Dohnal.  The basic terms of 

settlement were negotiated through with Judge Dohnal and took at least a full day of his 

involvement and supervision.   After settlement with ChoicePoint became possible, settlement 

with Wal-Mart occurred with the continuing involvement of ChoicePoint’s own attorneys, 

including its General Counsel.  Settlement involved the Defendants and at least six of their 

attorneys.  It was hard-fought and negotiated between informed opponents otherwise at odds for 

the entire litigation.   

 On December 2, 2008, the Court granted Preliminary approval to the Settlement.    

C. Relief to the Classes 

 The Parties have agreed that ChoicePoint, on behalf of Wal-Mart, shall be responsible for 

payment, into a fund to be equally distributed among the members of the Wal-Mart Class, the 

sum of $4,000,000.00.  Separate and apart from the relief for the Wal-Mart Class, ChoicePoint 

has agreed to pay an additional $2,890,000.00 into a common fund for the ChoicePoint Class. 
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The persons who are members of the Wal-Mart Class are also members of the ChoicePoint 

Class.   The total number of persons who are only members of the ChoicePoint Class is 55,839.  

The total number of persons who are members of both classes is 81,971.  If the Court granted 

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorneys fees and costs, the dual Class Members will receive a net check 

in the approximate amount of $50.  The ChoicePoint only class members will receive a net check 

of approximately $15. 

 In addition to monetary relief, the Settlement provides for equitable relief in the form of 

an order in a stipulated form requiring ChoicePoint, when it sends a notice as required by 15 

U.S.C. § 1681b(b) as well as a final adverse action notice on behalf of employers, to have a 

business practice that the final adverse action notice is to be sent no earlier than five business 

days after the mailing of the notice required by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b).   

D. Notice to the Class 

 Due process, in the class action context, requires that the form of notice be “reasonably 

certain to inform those affected.”  Vancouver Women’s Health Collective Soc’y v. A.H. Robins 

Co., Inc., 820 F.2d 1359, 1364 (4th Cir. 1987).  Here, the Parties agreed to a direct mail notice 

program designed to reach as many Class Members as possible.  The Parties distributed direct-

mail Notice to the Classes using a professional third-party administrator (TPA).  The names and 

addresses for that Notice came from ChoicePoint’s records of individuals belonging to both 

Classes.  The ChoicePoint data was then cross-checked against the U.S. Postal Service’s 

National Change of Address Database (NCOA).  Declaration of David Skinner, Exhibit “A”, ¶8.  

On January 16, 2009, the Notice Administrator mailed 137,810 Notices encompassing both 

Classes.  Skinner Decl. ¶9. Subsequently, some of the notices were returned with expired 

forwarding addresses.  These were re-mailed to the new addresses.  Supplemental Declaration of 
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David Skinner, Exhibit “B”, ¶6.   Additionally, 21,359 notices were returned as undeliverable, 

but for which the TPA was able to obtain an alternate address from an additional verification 

source.   Id., ¶7.  To date, only 107 of these notices have been returned as undeliverable.  Id., ¶8.   

Additionally, 21,466 notices have been returned as undeliverable, but even with the three address 

location sources used, new addresses were not available.  Id., ¶9.  The TPA records thus 

evidence that approximately 85% of all class members received actual direct mail notice.  This 

percentage is as high as any class settlement Plaintiffs’ counsel has advocated in this Court.   

The Supreme Court has concluded that notice sent by first class mail satisfies due 

process,  Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 812-13 (1985), and other courts —

including this court and others within the Fourth Circuit — have approved mailed-notice 

programs that reached a comparable or even smaller percentage of class members than the 

Notice reached in this case.  See In re Serzone, 231 F.R.D. 221, 236 (S.D. W. Va. 2005) 

(approving notice program where direct mail portion was estimated to have reached 80% of class 

members); Martin v. United Auto Credit Corp., 3:05cv00143 (E.D. Va. August 29, 2006) (Final 

Order approving class notice with approximately 85% delivery). 

 In addition, the Settlement Administrator created a website dedicated to the Settlement 

and containing copies of the class notices as well as other information concerning the Settlement 

and the underlying litigation.  Skinner Decl. ¶5.  To date, the TPA has also received and handled 

over 5,000 telephone calls to the toll-free number obtained for this settlement.  Supp. Skinner 

Decl. ¶12.  

 On December 1, 2008, Defendants’ counsel mailed notice of the proposed settlement and 

all related documents to the United States Attorney General and to the Attorneys General for all 

50 states.  Declaration of Alan Wingfield, Exhibit “C”, ¶3.   This notice fully complied with the 
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requirements of the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”).  28 U.S.C. §1715.  As is 

obvious from the Court’s docket, none of these agencies or states has objected to the Settlement. 

The Parties have complied fully with the Court’s Preliminary Approval Order, and have 

taken reasonable steps to ensure that the Class Members were notified — in the best and most 

direct manner possible — of the Settlement’s terms and excellent benefits.   

THE COURT SHOULD GRANT FINAL APPROVAL 
 

 The Parties seek, pursuant to the terms of the Court’s Preliminary Approval Order and 

federal law, final approval of the Settlement.  The Settlement is the result of contentious 

litigation (motion practice and discovery) and settlement negotiations, conducted at arms’ length 

by experienced counsel who were assisted by superior expert witnesses and Magistrate Judges.  

Most significantly, the Settlement provides genuine, tangible relief to Class Members without 

any action whatsoever on their part. 

FED. R. CIV. P. 23(e) 

A class settlement, and subsequent dismissal of the case, requires Court approval.  Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 23(e)(1)(A).  The process for that approval is discussed generally in Rule 23(e) which 

provides, in relevant part: 

(e) Settlement, Voluntary Dismissal, or Compromise. 
 
(1)(A) The court must approve any settlement, voluntary dismissal, or compromise of the 
claims, issues, or defenses of a certified class. 
 
(B) The court must direct notice in a reasonable manner to all class members who would 
be bound by a proposed settlement, voluntary dismissal, or compromise. 
 
(C) The court may approve a settlement, voluntary dismissal, or compromise that would 
bind class members only after a hearing and on finding that the settlement, voluntary 
dismissal, or compromise is fair, reasonable, and adequate. 
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(2) The parties seeking approval of a settlement, voluntary dismissal, or compromise 
under Rule 23(e)(1) must file a statement identifying any agreement made in connection 
with the proposed settlement, voluntary dismissal, or compromise. 

 
Rule 23(e) thus imposes two basic requirements on the parties and on the Court before the 

approval of a class settlement and dismissal.  First, the Court must determine that notice was 

directed “in a reasonable manner to all class members.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(1)(B).  Second, the 

Court must determine that that the settlement “is fair, reasonable, and adequate.”  The parties 

herein address each of these requirements. 

 Federal jurisprudence strongly favors resolution of class actions through settlement.  San 

Francisco NAACP v. San Francisco Unified Sch. Dist., 59 F. Supp. 2d 1021, 1029 (N.D. Cal. 

1999); see ALBA CONTE & HERBERT NEWBERG, NEWBERG ON CLASS ACTIONS § 11.41 (4th ed. 

2002) (“The compromise of complex litigation is encouraged by the courts and favored by public 

policy.”).  Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 requires Court review of the resolution of a class 

action such as this one.  Specifically, the Rule provides that “[t]he claims, issues, or defenses of a 

certified class may be settled, voluntarily dismissed, or compromised only with the court’s 

approval.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(e).  Court approval is required to ensure that the parties gave 

adequate consideration to the rights of absent class members during the settlement negotiations.  

Henley v. FMC Corp., 207 F. Supp. 2d 489, 492 (S.D. W. Va. 2002) (citing In re Jiffy Lube Secs. 

Litig., 927 F.2d 155, 158 (4th Cir. 1991)).  The Court may approve a settlement only after a 

hearing and on finding that it is “fair, reasonable, and adequate.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(e)(2).  

Approval of a class action settlement is committed to the “sound discretion of the district courts 

to appraise the reasonableness of particular class-action settlements on a case-by-case basis, in 

light of the relevant circumstances.” In re MicroStrategy, Inc. Sec. Litig., 148 F. Supp. 2d 654, 

663 (E.D. Va. 2001).  Additionally, “there is a strong initial presumption that the compromise is 
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fair and reasonable.”  Id. (quoting S. Carolina Nat’l Bank v. Stone, 139 F.R.D. 335, 339 (D.S.C. 

1991)). 

THE NOTICE WAS REASONABLE AND THE BEST PRACTICABLE 

 In a settlement class maintained under Rule 23(b)(3), class notice must meet the 

requirements of both Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(c)(2) and 23(e).  Rule 23(e) specifies 

that “[n]o class action may be ‘dismissed or compromised without [court] approval,’ preceded by 

notice to class members.”  Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(e).  Rule 23(c)(2) requires that notice to the class 

must be “the best practicable under the circumstances, including individual notice to all member 

who can be identified through reasonable effort.”  Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c).  The Rule also requires 

that the notice inform potential class members that (1) they have an opportunity to opt out; (2) 

the judgment will bind all class members who do not opt out; (3) and any member who does not 

opt out may appear through counsel.  Id.  The Court must consider the mode of dissemination 

and the content of the notice to assess whether such notice was sufficient.  See Manual for 

Complex Litigation (Fourth) § 21.312 (2004). 

 Notice was provided by direct mail, postage pre-paid.  A professional class action 

administrator was hired and mailed the notices.  Bad addresses were checked against a public 

records database and the National Change of Address database.   

  As this Court has held, “[w]hat amounts to reasonable efforts under the circumstances is 

for the Court to determine after examining the available information and possible identification 

methods . . . ‘In every case, reasonableness is a function of [the] anticipated results, costs, and 

amount involved.’”  Fisher v. Va. Elec. & Power Co., 217 F.R.D. 201, 227 (E.D. Va. 2003) 

(citations omitted).  The Parties’ efforts to provide class members with Notice of the Class 

Action provide clear evidence that they were the best notice practicable under the circumstances 
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given:  (a) the available information; (b) the possible identification methods; (c) the number of 

class members; (d) the amount of the settlement; (e) the value to the class as a whole by holding 

up the settlement process for the other class members ; (f) the significant additional cost class 

members; and (g) the anticipated results of further identification efforts.  Thus, the Court should 

find that the Notice of the Class Action (and process followed by the TPA as described above) 

satisfies Rule 23.  

THE SETTLEMENT IS FAIR, REASONABLE, AND ADEQUATE 

The Court’s determination of compliance with Rule 23(e)(1)(C) typically requires a two-

part analysis.  The Court must determine whether the settlement is “Fair” and then whether the 

settlement is “Adequate.”   The approval of a proposed settlement agreement is in the sound 

discretion of the Court.  In re Jiffy Lube Sec. Lit., 927 F.2d 155, 158 (4th Cir.1991).   

A. Fairness. 

The fairness factors pertain to whether there has been arm's length bargaining.  See In re 

Mid-Atlantic Toyota Antitrust Litig., 564 F.Supp. 1379, 1383 (D. Md. 1983); South Carolina 

Nat'l Bank v. Stone, 139 F.R.D. 335, 339 (D.S.C. 1991). The court must consider:  (i) the posture 

of the case at the time of settlement; (ii) the extent of discovery that has been conducted; (iii) the 

circumstances surrounding the negotiations; and (iv) the experience of counsel.  In re Jiffy Lube 

Securities Litig., 927 F.2d 155, 158-59 (4th Cir. 1991); see also In re Microstrategy, Inc. 

Securities Litig., 148 F.Supp.2d 654, 663-64 (E.D. Va. 2001); Strang v. JHM Mortg. Securities 

Ltd. Partnership, 890 F.Supp. 499, 501 (E.D. Va. 1995).  A proposed class action settlement is 

considered presumptively fair where there is no evidence of collusion and the parties, through 

capable counsel, have engaged in arm's length negotiations.  See South Carolina Nat'l Bank, 139 

F.R.D. at 339. 
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Settlement was reached only after significant litigation, discovery and mediation 

conferences.  The Settlement was reached after multiple extended settlement conferences held by 

both Magistrate Judges Dohnal and Lauck.  Each took a very active role in facilitating the 

negotiations and was instrumental in obtaining significant compromise from each party. 

The Parties fairly reached the Settlement.  The facts and legal issues in the case – whether 

the timing of Defendants’ employment background check notices violated the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §1681, et seq., and whether such alleged violations were 

willful – was the subject of significant motions practice and discovery.  Given the facts and 

posture of the case, Plaintiffs’ discovery was more than adequate to determine the strength of his 

case and thus constructively and fairly participate in settlement negotiations.  See Strang v. JHM 

Mortg. Securities Ltd. Partnership, 890 F.Supp. at 501 (“Although the settlement comes at an 

early stage in the litigation, even prior to the initiation of formal discovery, the Court finds that 

Plaintiffs have conducted sufficient informal discovery and investigation to fairly evaluate the 

merits of Defendants' positions during settlement negotiations”).  

The settlement process itself is largely beyond question, as it was negotiated under the 

direct supervision of two federal magistrate judges.  An arms-length negotiation process as in the 

present instance, before a federal magistrate judge more than satisfies the requirement that the 

settlement not be one brokered through “collusion or coercion.”  See, e.g., Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. 

v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., 396 F.3d 96, 117 (2d Cir. 2005); Weiss v. Regal Collections, 2006 WL 

2038493 (D.N.J. July 19, 2006).  

Class counsel also satisfies the procedural fairness requirement of competent 

representation. Both Mr. Bennett and Mr. North have considerable experience in this field and 
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Mr. Bennett has litigated or is currently litigating numerous class actions under the Federal 

Consumer Credit Protection Act (CCPA), including the FCRA.   

B. Adequacy. 

The Court must also determine whether the proposed class settlement is substantively 

“adequate.”  The Fourth Circuit’s decision in: 

Jiffy Lube teaches that the adequacy inquiry is guided by 
evaluating:  (1) the relative strength of the plaintiffs' case on the 
merits, (2) the existence of any difficulties of proof or strong 
defenses the plaintiffs are likely to encounter if the case goes to 
trial, (3) the anticipated duration and expense of additional 
litigation, (4) the solvency of the defendants and the likelihood of 
recovery on a litigated judgment, and (5) the degree of opposition 
to the settlement.   Jiffy Lube, 927 F.2d at 159.  

  
In re Microstrategy, Inc. Securities Litigation, 148 F.Supp.2d at 665. 

By its terms, the Settlement provides both monetary and equitable consideration to all 

class members.  Additionally, even though it still adamantly disputes liability in this case, 

ChoicePoint has agreed to and has changed its FCRA compliance practices.   Under any stretch 

of the imagination, this settlement is fair, reasonable and an excellent result for the class. 

Additionally, as the Court is likely aware, the case was defended by opponents with considerable 

experience, and prior success, in this area and obtaining a jury determination that the violation 

was willful would always remain a challenge in the case.  Importantly, the Settlement also 

provides that any unclaimed funds as a result of undeliverable checks will not revert to the 

Defendants and are instead to be paid as cy pres.   

 “Thus, the old adage, “a bird in hand is worth two in the bush” applies with particular 

force in this case.  See Cardiology Associates, P.C. v. National Intergroup, Inc., 1987 WL 7030, 

at *2 (S.D.N.Y. 1987) (concluding that because continued prosecution of the action would have 

been expensive and time-consuming, and would have involved substantial risks, “it [was] not 
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unreasonable for the plaintiff class to take a ‘bird in the hand’ ”); Alvarado Partners, L.P. v. 

Mehta, 723 F.Supp. 540, 547 (D.Colo. 1989) (noting that "[i]t has been held prudent to take ‘a 

bird in the hand instead of a prospective flock in the bush’ ” in weighing the value of an 

immediate recovery against “the mere possibility of future relief after protracted and expensive 

litigation”) (quoting Chas. Pfizer & Co., 314 F.Supp. at 740).”  In re Microstrategy, Inc. 

Securities Litigation, 148 F.Supp.2d at 667. 

 Finally, the Court must consider it an important statement that not a single class member 

has either expressed a substantive objection.  By the Parties’ account, there have been only 4 

objections.  They were as follows: 

1.  The award as being too small to send a “strong enough message” and Class 
Counsel’s attorneys’ fees as being too high (Boley); 
2.  The amount of the award as being too small to be a deterrent to Wal-Mart 
(Harris); 
3.  Objecting to class members getting different amounts, arguing that all class 
members should get the same amount, and objecting to the cy pres recipients, 
arguing that cy pres recipients should be national entities (Kean); and 
4.  Objecting to payment of unpaid portion of common fund to charities (Wilson). 

 
The first two objections – in substance – misunderstand the claims in this case.  They express 

objections to settlement with Wal-Mart of claims that were not at issue in this case.  And in fact, 

by terms of the Settlement Agreement, any existing claims not connected to the notice violations 

alleged in this case are not affected by the Settlement. 

 The later two objections address the potential for cy pres distribution for unclaimed 

funds.  The Parties have already negotiated and agreed to present to the Court at the conclusion 

of the distribution process a recommendation to disburse cy pres proceeds to two national 

consumer protection organizations. 

 Regardless, with only 4 objections and 19 opt outs, the Settlement has to be seen as a 

significant success.  “Such a lack of opposition to the partial settlement strongly supports a 
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finding of adequacy, for ‘[t]he attitude of the members of the Class, as expressed directly or by 

failure to object, after notice to the settlement is a proper consideration for the trial court.’  Flinn 

v. FMC Corp., 528 F.2d 1169, 1173 (4th Cir.1975).”  Id. at 668.  As Judge Ellis of this court has 

previously explained, “[b]ecause "the reaction of the class to the settlement is perhaps the most 

significant factor to be weighed in considering its adequacy," the lack here of any objections to 

the partial settlement and the small number of class members choosing to opt-out of the case 

strongly compel a finding of adequacy.  Sala v. National R.R. Passenger Corp., 721 F. Supp. 80, 

83 (E.D. Pa. 1989).”  Id. 

CLASS COUNSEL’S REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS FEES IS PROPER 

 In the Fourth Circuit, attorneys’ fees in common fund cases such as this one are generally 

awarded on a percentage-of-the-recovery basis.  Smith v. Krispy Kreme Doughnut Corp., No. 

1:05CV00187, 2007 WL 119157, at *1 (M.D.N.C. Jan. 10, 2007); see DeLoach v. Philip Morris 

Cos., No. 00-1235, 2003 WL 23094907, at *3 (M.D.N.C. Dec. 19, 2003) (citing, with approval 

for this same proposition, In re Compact Disc Minimum Advertised Price Antitrust Litig., 216 

F.R.D. 197, 215 (D. Me. 2003)); see also Strang v. JHM Mortg. Sec. Ltd. P’ship, 890 F. Supp. 

499, 502 (E.D. Va. 1995) (“Although the Fourth Circuit has not yet ruled on this issue, the 

current trend among the courts of appeal favors the use of a percentage method to calculate an 

award of attorneys’ fees in common fund cases.”). 

In this case, the Defendants agreed not to oppose Class Counsel’s fee request of up to 

30% of the full common fund, however Class Counsel requests only 27.5% plus costs and 

expenses limited to $10,000.  

 Percentage-fee awards are exactly what the name suggests—class counsel fees are 

determined as a percentage of the total settlement fund.  Courts across the country typically 
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award fees of a least twenty-five percent or more in cases where class counsel generates a 

common fund for the benefit of the class.  See MANUAL FOR COMPLEX LITIGATION (FOURTH) § 

14.121 (explaining that “the vast majority of courts now permit or direct district courts to use the 

percentage-fee method in common-fund cases” and “[a]ttorney fees awarded under the 

percentage method are often between 25% and 30% of the fund”); see also In re RJR Nabisco, 

No. 88 Civ. 7905, 1992 WL 210138, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 24, 1992) (recognizing that courts 

increasingly use the percentage of the fund method over the loadstar method in awarding fees).  

In fact, a comprehensive study of attorneys fees in class action cases notes “a remarkable 

uniformity in awards between roughly 30% to 33% of the settlement amount.”  Theodore 

Eisenberg and Geoffrey P. Miller, Attorney Fees in Class Action Settlements:  An Empirical 

Study, 1 J. OF EMPIRICAL LEGAL STUDIES 27, 31, 33 (2004).  This holds true even in instances 

where the class recovery runs into the hundreds of millions of dollars.  See, e.g., In re Thirteen 

Appeals Arising Out of San Juan Dupont Plaza Hotel Fire Litig., 56 F.3d 295, 295 (1st Cir. 

1995) (approving award of thirty percent of $220 million); In re Combustion, Inc., 968 F. Supp. 

1116, 1136 (W.D. La. 1997) (awarding thirty-six percent of $125 million). 

 Courts generally award fees of between twenty-five and thirty-three percent of the 

common fund notwithstanding the amount of the fund.   In re US Bancorp Litig., 291 F.3d 1035, 

1038 (8th Cir. 2002) (approving award of 36% of  $3.5 million settlement fund); Gwozdzinnsky 

v. Sandler Assoc., 159 F.3d 1346, 1346 (2d Cir. 1998) (affirming district court’s award of 25% of 

$1 million common fund); In re Educ. Testing Serv., 447 F. Supp. 2d at 631 (concluding the 

customary fee award for class actions “is between 22% and 27%”); In re CMS Energy ERISA 

Litig., No. 02-72834, 2006 WL 2109499, at *1 (E.D. Mich. June 27, 2006) (awarding fee of 

28.5% of $28 million settlement fund); In re Xcel Energy, Inc., 364 F. Supp. 2d 980, 995 (D. 
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Minn. 2005) (awarding 25% of $80 million settlement fund); Strougo ex rel. Brazilian Equity 

Fund, Inc. v. Bassini, 258 F. Supp. 2d 254, 262 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (granting attorneys fees in 

amount of 33 1/3% of $1.5 million settlement fund); Maley v. Del Global Techs. Corp., 186 F. 

Supp. 2d 358, 370 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (awarding 33.3% of $3.8 million settlement fund); Kidrick v. 

ABC Television & Appliance Rental, No. 3:97CV69, 1999 WL 1027050, at *1-2 (N.D. W. Va. 

May 12, 1999) (awarding 30.6% of approximately $400,000 settlement fund, noting that “[a]n 

award of fees in the range of 30% of the fund has been held to be reasonable. . . . Fees as high as 

50% of the fund have been awarded.”) (internal citations omitted).   

 The requested fee fits squarely within these parameters.  The fee of 27.5% is directly 

proportionate to the success of the work performed by Class Counsel.1 Class Counsel seeks 

27.5% of the common fund notwithstanding (1) Defendants’ agreement not to challenge Class 

Counsel’s request for a 30% fee award and (2) abundant legal authority supporting 30% (and 

more) fee awards in common fund cases.  Id.   

 Given the significant work performed in the case and the substantial cash recovery 

obtained for the class, the reasonableness of the attorneys’ fee requested should seem self-

evidently reasonable.  However, the Court is also in a position to compare the settlement and 

attorneys’ fee requested to the several other national FCRA cases settled on a class basis.  Until a 

more recent case settled in this Division, Williams v. Lexis Nexis Risk Management, Civ. No. 

(27.5% of $22 million fund approved by Judge Payne), the largest FCRA class case settled was 

for a cash payment of $15,000,000 – all of it approved as attorneys fees and none of it paid to the 

class.  The benefit to justify such a fee was simply the injunctive relief and remedial changes to 

the manner in which each national consumer reporting agency would furnish class member credit 

                                                 
1 In fact, Plaintiffs’ lead counsel, Mr. Bennett, has remained consistent in his fee requests in other class settlements, 
including at least one in this Division this year that yielded a fee of less than $7,000 in a class case in which the class 
size discovered was much lower than initially estimated.    
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reports.  Clark v. Experian, et al., 2004 WL 256433 (D.S.C. 2004).2 In contrast, despite the 

greater success for the Class in this case, Plaintiff’s counsel still seeks only a proportionate 

recovery.  Because Class Counsel’s requested fee is reasonable under the circumstances of this 

case and the applicable law, the Court should award it. 

 The Court should also approve the modest incentive or service awards for the named 

Plaintiffs.  The Settlement will provide each Plaintiff $500 for their service.  Courts routinely 

award service or incentive awards to named plaintiffs in class actions.  In most instances, that 

award is much greater than the more modest $500 in this case, for example ranging from $2,000 

to $5,000.  See e.g. Staton v. Boing Co., 327 F.3d 938, 976-77 (9th Cir. 2003); In re Bancorp 

Litig., 291 F.3d 1035, 1038 (8th Cir. 2002); Cook v. Niedert, 142 F.3d 1004, 1016 (7th Cir. 

1998).  

                                                 
2 Present Class counsel, Mr. Bennett, appeared in the case as lead objectors’ counsel.  He was successful in forcing 
some changes to the settlement, but not with respect to the payment of such a large fee to the attorneys to the 
exclusion of the class. 
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CONCLUSION 

 
 The Parties have reached a Settlement in this case that provides genuine relief to Class 

Members.  The Settlement is an excellent result considering the contentiousness of the litigation 

and the novelty of Plaintiffs’ claims.  Each Class Member is entitled to a cash award as a result 

of the Settlement, regardless of whether they were aware Defendants’ conduct potentially 

violated the FCRA or whether they suffered actual harm.  In addition, the terms of the Settlement 

as well as the circumstances surrounding negotiations and its elimination of further costs caused 

by litigating this case through trial and appeal satisfy the Fourth Circuit’s strictures for final 

approval. 

 Accordingly, the Parties ask the Court for an Order, substantially similar to the Proposed 

Order filed concurrently with this Motion.  

      RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 

STEPHEN M. BEVERLY 
And BRUCE J. SMITH  
for themselves and on behalf of all similarly  
situated individuals 
 
_________/s/_______________ 
Leonard A. Bennett, Esq.  
VSB #37523 

      Attorney for Plaintiff 
CONSUMER LITIGATION ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
12515 Warwick Boulevard, Suite 100 
Newport News, Virginia 23606 
(757) 930-3660 - Telephone 
(757) 930-3662 – Facsimile 

      lenbennett@cox.net 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on this  23rd  day of April, 2009, I will electronically file the 
foregoing with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will then send a notification 
of such filing (NEF) to the following:  

 
 
David N. Anthony, Esq. 
Attorney for Defendant ChoicePoint, Inc. t/a  
ChoicePoint Workplace Solutions 
Troutman Sanders, LLP 
Troutman Sanders Building 
1001 Haxall Point 
P.O. Box 1122 
Richmond, VA  23218-1122 
Phone:  (804) 697-5410 
Fax:  (804) 698-5118 
david.anthony@troutmansanders.com 
 
Alan Winfield, Esq. 
Attorney for Defendant ChoicePoint, Inc. t/a  
ChoicePoint Workplace Solutions 
Troutman Sanders, LLP 
Troutman Sanders Building 
1001 Haxall Point 
P.O. Box 1122 
Richmond, VA  23218-1122 
Phone:  (804) 697-1200 
Fax:  (804) 698-5118 
alan.wingfield@troutmansanders.com 
 
Megan C. Rahman, Esq. 
Attorney for Defendant ChoicePoint, Inc. t/a  
ChoicePoint Workplace Solutions 
Troutman Sanders, LLP 
Troutman Sanders Building 
1001 Haxall Point 
P.O. Box 1122 
Richmond, VA  23218-1122 
Phone:  (804) 697-1200 
Fax:  (804) 698-5118 
megan.rahman@troutmansanders.com 
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_________/s/_______________ 
Leonard A. Bennett, Esq. 
VSB #37523 

      Attorney for Plaintiff 
CONSUMER LITIGATION ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
12515 Warwick Boulevard, Suite 100 
Newport News, Virginia 23606 
(757) 930-3660 - Telephone 
(757) 930-3662 – Facsimile 

      lenbennett@cox.net 
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